No. 67712-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KHUSHDEV MANGAT, et. ux., Appellants,

VS.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, et. al.,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM SUPERIOR COURT FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Scott E. Stafne, WSBA #6964 Andrew J. Krawczyk, WSBA # 42982 Attorney for Appellants

Stafne Law Firm 239 N. Olympic Avenue Arlington, WA 98223 Phone: 360-403-8700

Fax: 360-386-4005

7017 FFR -3 MM 11: 05

I. INTRODUCTION

This case deals with the nature of rights to a subdivision application prior to preliminary plat approval. Appellants are developers who applied to Appellee Snohomish County ("the County") to subdivide certain parcels of real property which they had a contract to purchase from Appellee property owners. The project was to develop 30 dwellings. The application vested by operation of law on October 22, 2007. Subsequent ordinances passed by the County would permit significantly less dwellings on the parcel.

The appellants defaulted in December 2009 before the project received preliminary plat approval and the property owners sought to continue the application over the appellants' objections. The County permitted the application to continue, stating that land use applications run with the land. The Appellants attempted to stay and brought this action enjoin the proceedings and declare ownership of the developer rights. A preliminary injunction was denied and the County Hearing Examiner approved the application. The trial court granted motions for summary judgment brought by the Appellees and denied the Appellants motion for summary judgment on the issue of taking. Appellants seek review and reversal of the trial courts decisions.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Whether the Trial Court erred in granting the County's and Defendant's Motions for Summary Judgment?
- B. Whether the Trial Court erred in finding vested rights that accrue under a land use application attach to real property prior to preliminary plat approval?
- C. Whether the Trial Court erred in denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment?
- D. Whether the Trial Court erred in finding the County had the authority to allow the underlying landowners benefit from the application's Oct. 22, 2007 vesting date?
- E. Whether the Trial Court erred in not finding a taking?

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Here the primary dispute is whether Appellees were entitled to a judgment as a matter of law that the right(s) to have a subdivision application considered under the laws in effect (at the time it was fully completed) inures to the underlying landowners over the objections of developer/applicants. Or to phrase it another way, whether such a "vested right" granted under RCW 58.17.033(1) was "in rem" or "in personam" right prior to preliminary plat approval?

This necessarily implicates whether such developers right(s) is/are exclusively held by applicants; or whether the county official otherwise had the authority to allow the underlying landowners the application's Oct. 22, 2007 vesting date. This may further implicate genuine issues of

fact regarding the language of the contract and intent of the parties regarding whether their objections were proper; and/or what is recoverable in damages for a taking.

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Background

Khushdev and Harbhajen Mangat ("Mangats") are developers who entered into contracts (Purchase and Sale Agreements and Addendums) to purchase two adjacent parcels of certain real property owned by Defendants Luigi Gallo, and Johannes and Martha Dankers respectively ("Gallo and Dankers"). CP at 199-212 (Agreements and Addendums). The contract contemplated the Mangats would file a subdivision application. *Id.* But, in the event Plaintiffs were unable to complete the purchase of the property they would turn over all documents, reports and studies. *Id.* The proposed subdivision would be named *Trombley Heights*. *See* CP at 141-42 (Decl. G. Miller ¶ 2).

¹ The Court below did not reach its decision on the contract provisions. See Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VROP") at 29-30 ("boils down to one central legal issue [***] are the vested rights from the application in rem or in personam? [***]"); c.f., CP 12 (note future motion on fees under contract). More specifically, VROP at 31-35:

^[***] that the vested rights from the application do run with the land. The rights are tied to the real property, and in this Court's view it makes little sense if the interests are somehow separated and divorced from the land.

^{[***}page 34]

MR. DAVIDSON: Your Honor, I have one question. In our pleadings we had asked for reasonable attorney's fees under the contract, and since this action arguably concerns the contract and we had referenced that in our response to their motion, because they have in their motion

B. Vesting Date

It is undisputed that on or about September 24, 2007, the Mangats submitted a Subdivision Application to Snohomish County requesting preliminary plat approval for developing real property for which they had a contract to purchase. CP at 125-6 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 2), 196 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 2), 219 (Decl. G. Miller at ¶ 6). The application was signed only by the Mangats. CP at 410 (Dep. E. Caine), 481:3-10.

The County never told the Mangats the underlying property owners had a controlling interest in the subdivision application. *See* CP 37:18-38:5 (Decl. S. Stafne); CP at 196-97 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 5-6). At a deposition, Plaintiffs 30(b)(6) designee, Tom Rowe, indicated there is no statute, ordinance or regulation which establishes a substantive legal

argued that the contract does not include an obligation to turn over the, quote, application.

THE COURT: Counsel, that was frankly not the focus of the pleadings. I will let you -- frankly, it was, in the vast amount of things that I was considering, not something I focused on. If you feel that that is appropriate I guess I'll invite you to renote that and that can be addressed further and I'll give the opposing parties an opportunity to respond. So I think I'm going [page 35] to leave my decision today fairly brief. If you feel that that does follow, I'll give you an opportunity to renote it and it can be addressed if it can't otherwise be resolved.

VROP 31-35. Furthermore, meaning of the contract terms and intent of the parties upon default are factually in dispute, *e.g.*, and Mangat's assert their intent was to provide the documents so that a new application could be submitted; and Mangat's assert Gallo and Dankers required the Mangats' agree to convey their application to them to get additional extensions. *Compare*, CP at 98-100 (¶ 2-6), 443-445 (Dep. J. Dankers), *with* CP at 196 (Decl. H. Mangat); *and* CP 125-126 (Decl. H. Mangat). Additionally, Gallo and Dankers' agents drafted the agreements and addendums. CP at 195 (Decl. H. Mangat), 445 (Dep. J. Dankers).

requirement that the owners of the property be made applicants. CP 56:15-59:25 (Dep. T. Rowe); *see also*, CP 29:22-33:8 (Decl. S. Stafne), 46:11-48:10 (Dep. T. Rowe), (applicant does not need to be fee simple owner, applicant has rights to application, no requirement owner sign at original application); *c.f.*, CP 38:6-39:2 (Decl. S. Stafne) (regarding disagreements between land owners).

The Mangats' application was deemed complete on October 22, 2007. CP at 219 (Decl. G. Miller ¶ 6). After this date, the land use laws changed such that the Trombley Heights project could build more houses then if the application were applied for today. CP at 142 (Decl. G. Miller at ¶ 4). The Mangats' incurred substantial costs in submitting and processing their application. CP at 196 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 2). The Mangats were never advised by the County until Feb. 22, 2010 that underlying landowners would have a right to their application. CP at 127 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 3).

Snohomish County took considerably longer than expected to process the application, and the Mangats and Gallo and Dankers

²Mangats' experts testified that 17 dwellings was the difference between the old and new regulations. CP at 129 (Decl. E. Cassel at ¶ 6); CP 142 (Decl. G. Miller at ¶ 3). The average value of such a vested right would be: \$225,700 (in July 2011) and \$311,000 (in December of 2009). CP at 129-132 (Decl. E. Cassel at ¶ 8, with calculation method below).

negotiated extensions for fees.³ CP at 196 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 3). The County made a further request for additional information on May 5, 2009. CP at 219 (Decl. G. Miller at ¶ 11). Then, on December 16, 2009, the Purchase and Sale Agreements expired. CP at 443:16-17 (Dep. J. Dankers).

C. Change in Applicants

The parties then sought to clarify their rights with respect to the application. CP at 120:3-17, 196-97 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 5-6). On January 10, 2010, Gallo met with Project Manager Ed Caine to discuss the application. CP at 120:5-7, 416:6-17 (Dep. E. Caine), 446:4-14 (Dep. J. Dankers). Thereafter Ed Caine made the determination that Mangats' Application and Vested Rights ran with the land. CP at 419:8-421:12 (Dep. E. Caine), 429:6-13 (Dep. E. Caine), 430:6-17 (Dep. E. Caine). The Mangats also corresponded with County officials and Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney's Office and objected to the County's actions. CP at

-

³ Snohomish County requires that a Notice of Final Decision on a project permit application issue within 120-days unless otherwise provided by ordinance or State law. Snohomish County Code (SCC) 30.70.110(1). See CP 39:3-40:23 (Decl. S. Stafne), 196 (Decl. H. Mangat), 216-220 (Decl. G. Miller). While the specific amount of countable days delayed may be in dispute, the County Hearing Examiner acknowledged more than 120-day period had elapsed. See id.; CP at 255 (Hearing Examiner Findings of Fact page 2 at ¶ marked 1); c.f., CP 431(Review Completion document "PDS is very late in providing a review"). Mangat's claims for unlawful delay are the subject of a different lawsuit Mangat v. Snohomish Co., Cause No. 11-2-06519-5 (Sno. Co. Sup. Ct. filed July 5, 2011) (CP 331-349) not before this court. See Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 98, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) (limiting judicial notice of other matters with same parties); see also, RAP 9.11.

196-97 (Decl. H. Mangat at ¶ 5), 420:12-421:24 (Dep. E. Caine). On February 22, 2010, the County Prosecuting Attorney's Office sent a letter indicating the subdivision application "the Subdivision Application is currently owned by Gallo and Dankers." CP at 214-215 (letter from Snohomish Co. Prosecutor to T. Graafstra). PDS then requested Gallo and Dankers execute forms to change the applicants. CP at 415-417 (Dep. E. Caine). Thereafter Gallo and Dankers filed applications on or after June, 18, 2010 and May 6, 2010 respectively. CP at 417 (Dep. E. Caine), 447-449 (Dep. J. Dankers).

Gallo and Dankers then worked to complete the project. CP at 424 (Dep. E. Caine). The County planning staff completed their staff report recommending approval of the subdivision application, with conditions, and a hearing on preliminary approval was set for April 12, 2011. *See* CP at 242 (Decl. S. Stafne at ¶ 3), 254-268 (Decision of Snohomish Co. Hearing Examiner).

D. Procedural History

The Mangats then filed this action on March 22, 2011. CP at 242 (Decl. S. Stafne at ¶ 5). The Mangats moved for a stay of the April 12, 2012 hearing; which the hearing examiner denied on April 5, 2011. CP at 245 (Order Calling for Additional Information), 319-320 (Order Denying Motion to Stay). On April 8, 2011, the Mangats moved for a Temporary

Restraining Order which was entered by the Court Commissioner of Snohomish County Superior Court; and was later quashed whereupon the Hearing Examiner rescheduled the hearing. CP at 242 (Decl. S. Stafne at ¶ 6). On May 3, 2011, the Mangats' motion for a preliminary injunction staying proceedings came on hearing before Court of Appeals Judge Robert Leach,⁴ who entered his written decision on May 16, 2011 denying the injunction. CP at 242 (Decl. S. Stafne at ¶ 7), 248-251 (Order Den. Prelim. Inj.). Therein, Judge Leach decided:

While the filing of an application vests certain development rights as they relate to the subject property, there can be no ownership interest in the application itself independent of the real property to which it pertains...There is nothing left for them to own.

CP 250. Subsequently the County approved Trombley Heights and issued the permit, which the Mangats appealed, and a partial summary judgment ordered against the Mangats; but that matter is not before this Court. *See* Supra Note 3; *see* generally, CP at 245 (Order Calling for Additional Information), 254-284 (Decision of Snohomish Co. Hearing Examiner, Appeal of Decision of Snohomish Co. Hearing Examiner), 304-314 (Mot. for Summ. Dismissal), 327-29 (County Council Dismissal), 331-349 (Pet. and Compl.).

⁴serving as pro tem of the Snohomish County Superior Court.

The County moved for summary judgment, which was re-noted for August 17, 2011, and the Mangats and Gallo and Dankers brought cross motions. *See* CP at 221 (Pl.'s Mot. Summ.J.), 445 (Dep. J. Dankers), 478 (Def. Snohomish Co. Mot. Summ. J.). Judge Kurtz issued a decision granting the County and Gallo and Dankers motions and denying the Mangats Motion. CP at 9-13 (Order Granting Def. Snohomish Co. Mot. Summ. J.).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing a decision of the court of appeals affirming an order of summary judgment, this Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. See, e.g., Hayes v. City of Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 706, 711, 934 P.2d 1179, modified on other grounds, 943 P.2d 265 (1997). This requires this court consider facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Summary judgment should only be granted where "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); Harrington v. Pailthorp, 67 Wn. App. 901, 905, 841 P.2d 1258, review denied, 121 Wn.2d 1018 (1992).

For the reasons mentioned below, this court should reverse the trial court's decisions because: the Mangats' right to have a subdivision application considered under the laws in effect (at the time it was fully

completed) is (1) their personal right, (2) held exclusively by applicant until preliminary plat approval; and (3) the County officials were without lawful authority to grant such a right to Gallo and Dankers.

B. RCW 58.17.033(1) Is a Personal Right Limiting Government Authority

For the reasons stated below, Vested Rights are personal rights (1) acting as limitations on government authority, (2) which were derived from Due Process rights under State and Federal Constitutions, and (3) later codified in RCW 58.17.033.

1. Government Authority Is Limited by the State and Federal Constitutions

Government's authority to regulate the use of property comes directly from inherent legislative police power, delegated by the Washington Constitution to municipal corporations. Const. art. XI, § 11 ("Any county, city, town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws."). The state's police power is limited only by the State and Federal Constitutions, which together delineate the proper realm of governmental action in the State of Washington. *State v. City of Seattle*, 94 Wn.2d 162, 166-67, 615 P.2d 461, 463 (1980); *Winkenwerder v. City of Yakima*, 52 Wn.2d 617, 622, 328 P.2d 873, 877 (1958). The police power has long been interpreted to allow state and local governments to regulate

the use of property through zoning ordinances and environmental regulation. *See, e.g., McNaughton v. Boeing*, 68 Wn.2d 659, 414 P.2d 778 (1966); *Sittner v. City of Seattle*, 62 Wn.2d 834, 384 P.2d 859 (1963) (holding that regulation of air contaminant emissions is valid exercise of police power).

The state's capacity to regulate land use is subject to the requirements of procedural and substantive due process, equal protection, and free speech, and to the prohibition against takings without adequate compensation. See U.S. Const. amend. V; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 16 ("No private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just compensation having first been made"); Pennsylvania Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393, 43 S. Ct. 158, 67 L. Ed. 322 (1922); Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 357, 13 P.3d 183 (2000); Collier v. City of Tacoma, 121 Wn.2d 737, 854 P.2d 1046 (1993); Presbytery of Seattle v. King County, 114 Wn.2d 320, 787 P.2d 907, cert. denied, 498 U.S. 911 (1990). Some commentators propose that substantive due process and the takings clauses of the Washington and U. S. Constitutions form the basis of most adjudicated land use actions. See, e.g., Gregory M. Mohrman, Police Power, Gifts, and the Washington Constitution, 71 Wash. L. Rev. 461, 466 (1996).

2. Vested Rights Doctrine Are Derived From Developer's Due Process Rights and Fundamentally Personal

1

Vested Rights Doctrine is a limitation of government legislative authority derived from "constitutional principles of fundamental fairness and due process." Weyerhaeuser v. Pierce County, 95 Wn. App. 883, 891, 976 P.2d 1279 (1999) (emphasis supplied); Vashon Island v. Washington State Boundary Review Bd. for King County, 127 Wn.2d 759, 768, 903 P.2d 953 (1995); Erickson & Associates v. Danz, 123 Wn.2d 864, 870, 872 P.2d 1090 (1994); see also, Frederick D. Huebner, Washington's Zoning Vested Rights Doctrine, 57 Wash. L. Rev. 139, n.11 (1981) (characterizing certain rights as "vested" signifies a conclusory description of a right or interest that is sufficiently secure or fixed such that divestment of that right is unfair or violates due process); Valley View Indus. Park v Redmond, 107 Wn.2d 621, 636, 733 P.2d 182 (1987); Hull v. Hunt, 53 Wn.2d 125, 130, 331 P.2d 856 (1958); The purpose of vesting is to provide a measure of certainty to developers, and to protect their expectations against fluctuating land use policy. West Main Assocs. v. City of Bellevue, 106 Wn.2d 47, 50-51, 720 P.2d 782 (1986); see Abbey Road Group, LLC v. City of Bonney Lake, 167 Wn.2d 242, 250-51, 218 P.3d 180 (2009) (The public purpose of the doctrine is to ensure "certainty and predictability in land use regulations" for the person undertaking the development).

1

The constitutional principals in operation here are fundamentally personal, the land does not (in and of itself) enjoy the due process rights as indicated by the text: "No person shall be [***] deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation." U.S. Const. Amend. V (emphasis supplied). "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Const. Art. I, § 3. Substantive due process requires governments act fairly and reasonably. See U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. (emphasis supplied to denote "fairness" is a component of due process as applied to States by U.S. Const. amend. XIV and not derived from other doctrine).

These rights thus come from the parties and are *in personam*:

An action is said to be in personam when its object is to determine the rights and interests of the parties themselves in the subject-matter of the action, however the action may arise, and the effect of a judgment of such an action is merely to bind the parties to it. A normal action brought by one person against another for breach of contract is a common example of an action in personam.

R.H. Gravson, Conflict of Laws 98 (7th ed. 1974).5

⁵ Due process rights have long been held to be ideas embodying social compact and natural rights which limit government:

And this is recognized in common law deriving vested rights. Washington's version of the Vested Rights Doctrine is different from the rules adopted by other states because the doctrine recognizes vesting at the application stage to avoid the necessity of determining whether a sufficient change in position has occurred. *See Hull v. Hunt*, 53 Wn.2d 125, 331 P.2d 856 (1958). In rejecting the vested rules adopted by other States,⁶ Washington Courts find "that the right vests when the party, *property*

In Loan Ass'n v. Topeka, 87 U.S. (20 Wall.) 655, 22 L. Ed. 455 (1875), ideas embodying the social compact and natural rights, which had been espoused by Justice Bradley in dissent in the Slaughter-House Cases, had been transformed tentatively into constitutionally enforceable limitations upon legislatures.

Next in the development of the due process doctrine, the court engrafted currently fashionable theories of laissezfaire economics onto its natural rights theories of liberty and property to the end that "liberty," in the particular, became synonymous with governmental hands-off in the field of private economic regulations such as that which the act here before us embraces.

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