67712-8

67712-8

Case No. 67712-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KHUSHDEV MANGAT and HARBHJAN MANGAT,

Appellants

vs.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, LUIGI GALLO, JOHANNES DANKERS and MARTHA DANKERS,

Respondents

SNOHOMISH COUNTY'S RESPONSE BRIEF

MARK K. ROE Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney

Brian J. Dorsey, WSBA #18639 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Robert J. Drewel Bldg., 8th Floor, M/S 504 3000 Rockefeller Avenue Everett, Washington 98201-4046 (425)388-6393 Fax: (425)388-6333 bdorsey@snoco.org

ORIGINAL

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

> The permit referred to by the trial court was granted when Overlake Memorial Cemetery owned the land concerned. Appellants maintain that the permit to establish a cemetery. . . did not run with the land. From this, appellants contend that, since no permit to establish a cemetery has been granted to Sunset Memorial Park, the maintenance of a cemetery by that corporation is unlawful.

> On the other hand, respondents contend that the term "permit," when used in connection with zoning, is merely a matter of zoning terminology, a subclassification or refinement of land-use classification, rather than a personal privilege or license. We are inclined to agree.

. . .

The exercise of zoning powers by county planning commissions and boards of county commissioners *involves more than the granting of purely personal licenses or privileges*...

These powers do not contemplate the restriction or authorization of land use on the basis of ownership by particular persons... <u>Clark</u>, 45 Wn.2d at 189-90; <u>See also Northwest Land and Investment, Inc.</u> <u>v. City of Bellingham</u>, 31 Wn. App. 742, 743, 644 P.2d 740 (1982) (recognizing that successor in interest to real property which was subject to preliminary plat approval at time of acquisition had standing to file revised final plat design and challenge conditions of plat approval).

The foregoing rule of law is widely recognized in other jurisdictions, to wit: that permits and approvals respecting the use and development of land are *in rem* in character rather than *in personum*.³ Thus, as an "in rem" property right the rights accruing under a land use permit are deemed to run with the land. <u>See Upper Minnetonka Yacht</u> <u>Club v. City of Shorewood</u>, 770 N.W.2d 184, 187 (Minn. 2009) (holding that a conditional use permit: "[I]s not a personal license, but a protected property right" and 'runs with the land and continues to encumber

³ 4 Rathkopf's The Law of Zoning and Planning § 69:6 (4th ed. 2009); <u>Anza Parking</u> Corp. v. City of Burlingame, 195 Cal. App. 3d 855, 858, 241 Cal. Rptr. 175 (1987) ("it is widely held that a conditional use permit creates a right which runs with the land; it does not attach to the permittee....The same rule prevails throughout the nation"); Matter of Lefrack Forest Hills Corp. v. Galvin, 40 A.D.2d 211, 338 N.Y.S.2d 932 (1972) (assuming, without discussion, that the building permits at issue attached to and ran with the land as ownership of the land changed hands); State ex rel. Parker v. Konopka, 119 Ohio App. 513, 515, 200 N.E.2d 695 (1963) (holding that a use variance granted to a previous owner of the real property ran with the land to the benefit of the current owner of the real property); Clements v. Steinhauer, 15 A.D.2d 72, 76, 221 N.Y.S.2d 793 (1961) (holding a subtenant was entitled to the benefits of a use permit obtained by the landlord's predecessor in title); Guenther v. Zoning Board of Review of the City of Warwick, 85 R.I. 37, 41-42, 125 A.2d 214 (1956) (holding the identity of a contract purchaser for the property at issue was irrelevant in the adjudicating the property owner's request for a variance): O'Connor v. City of Moscow, 69 Idaho 37, 43, 202 P.2d 401 (1949) (holding that an ongoing non-conforming use could not legally be extinguished by a change in ownership of the property).

property even after it is conveyed to subsequent owners"); <u>Anza Parking</u> <u>Corp. v. City of Burlingame</u>, 195 Cal. App.3d 855, 858-59 (1987) (holding: "[I]t is widely held that a conditional use permit creates a right which runs with the land; it does not attach to the permittee"); <u>Michael</u> <u>Weinman Associates General Partnership v. Town of Huntersville</u>, 555 S.E. 2nd 342, 345 (N.C. App. 2001) (stating common law rule that vested rights attach and run with the land); <u>Faircloth v. Lyles</u>, 592 So.2d 941, 945 (1991) (holding: "a nonconforming use is not a personal right but one that runs with the land"); <u>State v. Konopka</u>, 119 Ohio App. 513, 515 (1963) (holding that the "general rule" is that the grant of a variance "runs with a land and is not a personal license given to the landowner"); <u>Holthaus v.</u> <u>Zoning Board of Appeals of Town of Kent</u>, 209 A.D.2d 698, 699-700, 619 N.Y.S. 2d 160 (N.Y. App. Div. 1994) (holding that land use variance runs with the land and remains effective until properly revoked).

.

In the present case, the Mangats ask this court to depart from that rule of law as it relates to a land use application which has yet to ripen into issuance of an actual permit, and urge this court to conclude that the "vested rights" doctrine merely vests rights in favor of whomever the named applicant is on a land use application, and does not vest any rights in the real property itself. (See Appellants' Opening Brief, pg. 12). The argument was stated by the Mangats in their response to the County's motion for summary judgment as follows:

The Mangats assert their vesting rights under an application in Washington, are in personam prior to final platting (i.e., approval, grant, or permitting of a non-conforming use) because the rights are not attached to the land until approved and recorded by the County.

(CP 165, lines 12-16).

,

The Mangats argument is that the vested rights doctrine should be confined to a narrow interpretation of the right as codified in RCW 58.17.033 as merely vesting a personal right in the applicant/developer to have his/her application processed under the ordinances then in effect at the time of submission of the application. (See Appellants' Opening Brief, pg. 17-22). While this is the literal requirement of RCW 58.17.033, the vested rights doctrine has never been constrained to creating solely a personal right in the named applicant. On the contrary, it has repeatedly been held by our courts that the vested rights doctrine is a fundamental component of the constitutionally cognizable right to the use and enjoyment of land. See Mission Springs v. City of Spokane, 134 Wn.2d 947, 962, 954 P.2d 250 (1998) (holding: "Mission Springs had a constitutionally cognizable property right in the grading permit it sought. The right to use and enjoy land is a protected property right."); West Main Associates v. Bellevue, 106 Wn.2d 47, 50, 720 P.2d 782 (1986) (holding:

"[a]lthough less than a fee interest, development rights are beyond question a valuable right in property.")

While the doctrine of "vested rights" has been interchangeably referenced in the context of both owner and developer, the right emanates from the fundamental constitutional right of an individual to utilize his own land as he sees fit. <u>See West Main Associates</u>, 106 Wn.2d at 50 (holding: "One aspect of this court's protection of these rights [U.S. Const. amends. 5 and 14] is our vested rights doctrine.") Thus, the vested rights doctrine has universally been discussed in the context of the use of the land which is the subject of the application as follows:

> These due process considerations require that developers be able to take recognized action under fixed rules governing the development of their land. <u>West Main Assocs.</u>, at 51. The *right of a property owner* to use his property under the terms of the zoning ordinance prevailing at the time that he applies for a building permit has been settled for over half a century. <u>State ex rel. Hardy v. Superior Court</u>, 155 Wash. 244, 284 P. 93 (1930). The precept was stated in <u>State ex</u> <u>rel. Ogden v. Bellevue</u>, 45 Wn.2d 492, 495-96, 275 P.2d 899 (1954), which is often quoted as follows:

A **property owner** has a vested right to use his property under the terms of the zoning ordinance applicable thereto. A building or use permit must issue as a matter of right upon compliance with the ordinance. The discretion permissible in zoning matters is that which is exercised in adopting zone classifications with the terms, standards, and pertinent thereto, all of which must be by ordinance applicable to all persons alike. The of administering a zoning ordinance do not go back the questions of policy and discretion which were settled the time of the adoption of the ordinance. Administrative are properly concerned with questions of compliance the ordinance, not with its wisdom. To subject individuals questions of policy of administrative matters would unconstitutional....

... An *owner of property has a vested right* to it to a permissible use as provided for by prevailing ordinances. The right accrues at the time an application a building permit is made. The moves and countermoves the parties hereto by way of passing ordinances and actions for injunctions, should and did avail parties nothing. A zoning ordinance is not retroactive as to affect rights that have already vested. (Citations omitted.)

Valley View Indus. Park v. City of Redmond, 107 Wn.2d 621, 636-37,

733 P.2d 182 (1987) [emphasis added].

In <u>Hull v. Hunt</u>, 53 Wn.2d 125, 331 P.2d 856 (1958), the court held that the vested rights doctrine was not limited to one who is an owner of the real property but also extends to secure the prospective property rights of a developer. In holding that the vested rights doctrine applied irrespective of whether the applicant was the owner of the property, the court held as follows:

The more practical rule to administer, we feel, is that the right vests when the party, property owner or not, applies for his building permit, if that permit is thereafter issued. This rule, of course, assumes that the permit applied for and granted be consistent with the zoning ordinances and building codes in force at the time of application for the permit. The corporation counsel of the city of Seattle in his brief amicus curiae expresses the fear that such a rule - coupled with a holding that the applicant for the permit does not have to be the property owner - will result in speculation in building permits. However, the cost of preparing plans and meeting the requirements of most building departments is such that <u>there will generally be a good faith expectation of</u> <u>acquiring title or possession for the purposes of building</u>, particularly in view of the time limitations which require that the permit becomes null and void if the building or work authorized by such permit is not commenced within a specified period (one hundred and eighty days under the city of Seattle building code § 302 (h)).

Hull, 53 Wn.2d at 130.

Mangats rely upon the holding of the court in <u>Hull v. Hunt</u> to argue that the vested rights doctrine as declared by our courts merely protects the rights of the "developer" irrespective of the land and, thus, should be construed as being a personal property right and not a right attaching to the land until a permit is issued. (See Appellants' opening Brief, pg. 14-16). This argument misconstrues the holding of the court in <u>Hull</u> as well as the nature of the vested rights doctrine itself. The rights which "vest" under the vested rights doctrine do not vest in any one person, applicant or not; Rather, they vest in the real property which is the subject of the application and only a person who acquires title or the right of possession of such property can exercise those rights. Thus, as noted by the court in Hull, it makes no difference whether the applicant is the owner of the property or not, <u>the rights created can only be exercised by</u> one having title or possession of the property.

This is the fundamental basis for Judge Leach's decision in which he denied Plaintiffs' motion for preliminary injunction in this matter, recognizing that the Plaintiffs could assert no vested right under a land use application to develop land in which they no longer had any right or claim of interest in as follows:

The filing of the subdivision application by plaintiffs with Snohomish County was merely a request to develop the subject property. While the *filing of an application vests certain development rights as they relate to the subject property*, there can be no ownership interest in the application itself independent of the real property to which it pertains. Any vested rights created by the filing of such an application belong to the landowner who has the right to develop the property.

(See CP 560-63, Order Denying Motion for Preliminary Injunction dated May 16, 2011, pg. 3, ¶ 6).

The only right which is created by the filing of a land use application is the "*vested right*" to develop the real property in accordance with the zoning and land use regulations in effect at the time of the filing of the application once the permit is issued. As stated by the court in <u>Valley View Indus. Park v. Redmond</u>, 107 Wn.2d 621, 733 P.2d 182 (1987), that right is one which can only be exercised by the property owner (or one having a right of possession) as follows: The right of a *property owner* to use his property under the terms of the zoning ordinance prevailing at the time that he applies for a building permit has been settled for over half a century. <u>State Ex Rel. Hardy v. Superior Court</u>, 155 Wash. 244, 284 P. 93 (1930).

Valley View, 107 Wn.2d at 636.

.

•

While a person who is not the property owner can act as the "applicant" for purposes of submitting the land use application, the "vested rights" created attach to the real property and can only be exercised by one having some right or interest in the real property. There is no authority or case law suggesting that "vested rights" are severable from the real property and can be retained by a developer as a commodity independent of an interest in the real property as the Mangats would seek to do in this matter. On the contrary, as reflected by the holding of the court in Hull v. Hunt, such vested rights can only be exercised by one who acquires title or a right of possession in such real property. For this same reason, as more fully discussed in Section D below, having no further right or interest in the real property which was the subject of the subdivision application, the Mangats can establish no "taking" or other impairment of a vested right to develop real property in which the Mangats have no claim of title or right of possession.

C. <u>Rights in Application Reverted to Owners of Land Upon</u> <u>Termination of Purchase and Sale Agreement.</u>

In the alternative, Defendants Gallo and Dankers moved for summary judgment upon the grounds that even if the Mangats retained some right in the subdivision application as the applicant, such rights were expressly transferred and assigned in this case by the Mangats to Defendants Gallo and Dankers upon termination of the purchase and sale agreement in accordance with the following contract provision:

Seller will cooperate in signing such applications and other documents as may be required by the County to obtain preliminary approval of the subdivision of the property. The Buyer will promptly provide the Seller with copies of the subdivision application, plat map and all submittals it makes to the County, as well as all soil studies, wetland studies and delineations. streams studies, engineering drawings, topographical surveys and other reports, maps and drawings prepared by professionals and consultants hired by the Buyer to assist in the development of the property. In the event the Buyer terminates this agreement under the feasibility Contingency Addendum or defaults on the terms of this agreement, the Buyer shall promptly turn over to the Seller all studies, reports, letters, memorandums, maps, drawings and other written documents prepared by surveyors, engineers, biologists and other experts and consultants retained by the Buyer to assist in the planning of the development of the property. [emphasis added]

(CP 648, \P 1(c)). In construing the foregoing language as it pertained to the Mangats' motion for preliminary injunction, Judge Leach held as follows:

- 8. When they defaulted under the contract, the plaintiffs lost the right to purchase the property and were required to turn over to the Dankers and Gallo the maps, drawings, reports and other work product related to the subdivision of the land. <u>There is nothing left for them</u> to own.
- 9. The plaintiffs have made no showing of a legal right which is threatened by the actions of Snohomish County or the other defendants.

(CP 562, Order Denying Motion for Preliminary Injunction dated May 16, 2011, pg. 3, ¶¶ 8-9).

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